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(I) 

QUESTION PRESENTED 

Whether the Sixth Amendment requires that facts 
affecting the amount of restitution ordered under the 
Mandatory Victims Restitution Act of 1996, 18 U.S.C. 
3663A, be charged in the indictment, submitted to the 
jury, and proved beyond a reasonable doubt.   

 



 

(III) 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Page 

Opinion below .................................................................................. 1 
Jurisdiction ...................................................................................... 1 
Statement ......................................................................................... 2 
Argument ......................................................................................... 3 
Conclusion ...................................................................................... 13 

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES 

Cases:  

Alleyne v. United States, 133 S. Ct. 2151 (2013) ............. 3, 10 
Anders v. California, 386 U.S. 738 (1967) .............................. 3 
Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466 (2000)........................ 3 
Blakely v. Washington, 542 U.S. 296 (2004) .................... 5, 11 
Henderson v. United States, 133 S. Ct. 1121 (2013) ............. 4 
Johnson v. United States, 520 U.S. 461 (1997) ...................... 4 
Oregon v. Ice, 555 U.S. 160 (2009) ........................................... 8 
Pasquantino v. United States, 544 U.S. 349 (2005) .............. 6 
Southern Union Co. v. United States, 132 S. Ct. 2344 

(2012) ................................................................................ 3, 8, 9 
United States v. Adams, 363 F.3d 363 (5th Cir. 2004) ....... 11 
United States v. Agbebiyi, 575 Fed. Appx. 624  

(6th Cir. 2014) ........................................................................ 11 
United States v. Basile, 570 Fed. Appx. 252 

(3d Cir. 2014) ......................................................................... 11 
United States v. Behrman, 235 F.3d 1049 (7th Cir. 

2000) ....................................................................................... 12 
United States v. Bonner, 522 F.3d 804 (7th Cir.), 

cert. denied, 555 U.S. 883 (2008) ......................................... 12 
United States v. Brock-Davis, 504 F.3d 991 (9th Cir. 

2007) ......................................................................................... 7 
United States v. Carruth, 418 F.3d 900 (8th Cir. 

2005) ............................................................................. 7, 11, 12 



IV 

 

Cases—Continued: Page 
 

United States v. Cotton, 535 U.S. 625 (2002) ......................... 5 
United States v. Day, 700 F.3d 713 (4th Cir. 2012), 

cert. denied, 133 S. Ct. 2038 (2013) ........................ 5, 7, 9, 10 
United States v. George, 403 F.3d 470 (7th Cir.),  

cert. denied, 546 U.S. 1008 (2005) ......................................... 7 
United States v. Hunter, 618 F.3d 1062 (9th Cir. 

2010) ......................................................................................... 6 
United States v. Johnson, 583 Fed. Appx. 503 (6th 

Cir. 2014) ................................................................................ 11 
United States v. LaGrou Distrib. Sys., Inc., 466 F.3d 

585 (7th Cir. 2006) ................................................................... 7 
United States v. Leahy, 438 F.3d 328 (3d Cir.), cert. 

denied, 549 U.S. 1071 (2006) .................................. 6, 7, 11, 12 
United States v. Milkiewicz, 470 F.3d 390 (1st Cir. 

2006) ......................................................................................... 7 
United States v. Olano, 507 U.S. 725 (1993) .......................... 4 
United States v. Read:    

710 F.3d 219 (5th Cir. 2012), cert. denied, 133 S. 
Ct. 2796 (2013 ............................................................... 10 

133 S. Ct. 2796 (2013) .......................................................... 4 
United States v. Rebollo, 506 Fed. Appx. 544 (9th 

Cir. 2013), cert. denied, 134 S. Ct. 136 (2013) ................... 10 
United States v. Reif ler, 446 F.3d 65 (2d Cir. 2006) ............. 6 
United States v. Roemmele, No. 13-14255, 2014 WL 

6952961 (11th Cir. Dec. 10, 2014) ........................................ 11 
United States v. Sosebee, 419 F.3d 451  

(6th Cir. 2005) .................................................................... 7, 11 
United States v. Visinaiz, 428 F.3d 1300 (10th Cir. 

2005), cert. denied, 546 U.S. 1123 (2006) ............................. 7 
United States v. Williams, 445 F.3d 1302 (11th Cir. 

2006), abrogated on other grounds by United 
States v. Lewis, 492 F.3d 1219 (11th Cir. 2007) .................. 7 



V 

 

Cases—Continued: Page 
 

United States v. Wooten, 377 F.3d 1134 (10th Cir.), 
cert. denied, 543 U.S. 993 (2004) ......................................... 12 

Wolfe v. United States, 133 S. Ct. 2797 (2013) ....................... 4 

Statutes and rule: 

Mandatory Victims Restitution Act of 1996,  
18 U.S.C. 3663A ...................................................................... 2 

18 U.S.C. 3663A(a)(1) ......................................................... 5 
18 U.S.C. 3663A(b)(1) ..................................................... 5, 9 
18 U.S.C. 3663A(c)(1)(A)(ii) ............................................... 5 
18 U.S.C. 3663A(d) .......................................................... 5, 9 
18 U.S.C. 3664(f )(1)(A) ....................................................... 5 

Resource Conservation and Recovery Act of 1976: 
42 U.S.C. 6928(d) ................................................................. 8 
42 U.S.C. 6928(d)(7) ............................................................ 8 

Victim and Witness Protection Act of 1982,  
18 U.S.C. 3663  ........................................................................ 7 

18 U.S.C. 1343 ............................................................................ 2 
Fed. R. Crim. P. 52(b) ............................................................... 4 
  
 

 

 



 

(1) 

In the Supreme Court of the United States 
 

No. 14-337  
WALTER HOLMICH, PETITIONER 

v. 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

 

ON PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI 
TO THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS  

FOR THE SEVENTH CIRCUIT 

 

BRIEF FOR THE UNITED STATES IN OPPOSITION 

 

OPINION BELOW 

The order of the court of appeals (Pet. App. 1a-7a) 
is not published in the Federal Reporter but is re-
printed in 563 Fed. Appx. 483. 

JURISDICTION 

The judgment of the court of appeals was entered 
on April 23, 2014, and amended on June 5, 2014.  On 
July 9, 2014, Justice Kagan extended the time within 
which to file a petition for a writ of certiorari to and 
including August 21, 2014.  On August 7, 2014, Justice 
Kagan further extended the time to September 20, 
2014, and the petition was filed on September 19, 
2014.  The jurisdiction of this Court is invoked under 
28 U.S.C. 1254(1).  
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STATEMENT 

In the United States District Court for the Central 
District of Illinois, petitioner pleaded guilty to four 
counts of wire fraud, in violation of 18 U.S.C. 1343.  
He was sentenced to 130 months of imprisonment and 
ordered to pay $780,190.40 in restitution.  Pet. App. 
1a, 8a, 10a, 17a.  The court of appeals dismissed his 
appeal.  Id. at 1a-7a. 

1. Beginning no later than August 2005, petitioner 
and others devised a scheme to defraud subcontrac-
tors of money and property by means of materially 
false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, prom-
ises, and material omissions.  Presentence Investiga-
tion Report (PSR) para. 12.  As part of the scheme, 
petitioner managed several businesses that procured 
government contracts for work, hired subcontractors 
to perform some of the work, and failed to pay the 
subcontractors for their work.  PSR paras. 12-15.   

Petitioner was indicted on four counts of wire 
fraud, in violation of 18 U.S.C. 1343.  Pet. App. 26a-
31a.  The indictment identified ten distinct alleged 
victims and losses totaling approximately $512,222.  
Ibid.  Petitioner pleaded guilty to all counts of the 
indictment.  Id. at 1a. 

The PSR calculated a guidelines sentencing range 
of 108 months to 135 months of imprisonment, based 
on a total offense level of 31 and criminal history cate-
gory I.  PSR para. 99.  The PSR also recommended 
that petitioner be ordered to pay $780,190.40 in resti-
tution to 23 victims pursuant to the Mandatory Vic-
tims Restitution Act of 1996 (MVRA), 18 U.S.C. 
3663A.  PSR para. 110.  At petitioner’s sentencing 
hearing, the district court sentenced petitioner to 130 
months of imprisonment and ordered him to pay 
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$780.190.40 in restitution.  Sent. Tr. 55; Pet. App. 17a-
23a (Judgment). 

2. On appeal, petitioner’s appointed counsel filed a 
motion to withdraw pursuant to Anders v. California, 
386 U.S. 738 (1967).  Pet. App. 1a.  Petitioner opposed 
the motion.  Ibid.  The court of appeals limited its 
review to the issues identified by counsel and by peti-
tioner.  Id. at 2a-7a. As relevant here, the court re-
jected petitioner’s argument that the Sixth Amend-
ment required the amount of restitution ordered to be 
limited to the amount alleged in the indictment and 
proven beyond a reasonable doubt.  Id. at 4a-6a.  Rely-
ing on circuit precedent, the court of appeals held that 
the line of cases beginning with Apprendi v. New 
Jersey, 530 U.S. 466 (2000), and continuing through 
Alleyne v. United States, 133 S. Ct. 2151 (2013), does 
not apply to the calculation of restitution.  Pet. App. 
4a-5a. 

ARGUMENT 

Petitioner contends (Pet. 7-28) that Apprendi v. 
New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466, 490 (2000), which held that 
“[o]ther than the fact of a prior conviction, any fact 
that increases the penalty for a crime beyond the 
prescribed statutory maximum must be submitted to a 
jury, and proved beyond a reasonable doubt,” applies 
to the calculation of restitution.  Petitioner argues 
(Pet. 7-8, 16-23) that this Court’s recent decisions in 
Southern Union Co. v. United States, 132 S. Ct. 2344 
(2012), which held that facts increasing a criminal fine 
above the statutory maximum should be found by a 
jury, and Alleyne v. United States, 133 S. Ct. 2151 
(2013), which held that facts increasing a mandatory 
minimum sentence should be found by a jury, indicate 
that Apprendi applies to restitution.  Petitioner is 
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incorrect.  Every court of appeals to consider Appren-
di’s application to restitution has concluded that the 
imposition of restitution does not implicate Apprendi.  
This Court has previously denied petitions for a writ 
of certiorari in cases raising the same question pre-
sented here.  See Wolfe v. United States, 133 S. Ct. 
2797 (2013), and Read v. United States, 133 S. Ct. 2796 
(2013).  The same disposition is warranted here. 

1. a. As an initial matter, this case would not be an 
appropriate vehicle to consider Apprendi’s application 
to restitution because petitioner failed to raise an 
Apprendi objection in the district court and his claim 
is therefore reviewable only for plain error.  Fed. R. 
Crim. P. 52(b); United States v. Olano, 507 U.S. 725, 
731-732 (1993).  To establish reversible plain error, 
petitioner must show (1) error, (2) that was plain, 
(3) that affected his substantial rights, and (4) that 
seriously affected the fairness, integrity, or public 
reputation of judicial proceedings.  See Johnson v. 
United States, 520 U.S. 461, 466-467 (1997).  Given the 
uniform precedent holding that Apprendi does not 
apply to restitution, see pp. 6-7, infra, petitioner can-
not demonstrate that any error was plain, i.e., clear or 
obvious.  Olano, 507 U.S. at 734; see Henderson v. 
United States, 133 S. Ct. 1121, 1130-1131 (2013) (hold-
ing that the error must “be ‘plain’ at the time of appel-
late consideration”) (citation omitted).  And even if 
petitioner could establish that element of the plain-
error test, he would still have to establish that any 
error affected his substantial rights and seriously 
affected the fairness, integrity, or public reputation of 
judicial proceedings. 

b. The court of appeals correctly held that Ap-
prendi does not apply to restitution.  Pet. App. 4a-6a.  
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In Apprendi, this Court held that any fact other than 
a prior conviction that increases the penalty for a 
crime beyond the prescribed statutory maximum must 
be proved beyond a reasonable doubt and found by a 
jury.  530 U.S. at 490; see also United States v. Cotton, 
535 U.S. 625, 627 (2002) (making clear that “such facts 
must also be charged in the indictment”).  The 
“  ‘statutory maximum’ for Apprendi purposes is the 
maximum sentence a judge may impose solely on the 
basis of the facts reflected in the jury verdict or ad-
mitted by the defendant.”  Blakely v. Washington, 542 
U.S. 296, 303 (2004) (emphasis omitted).   

Petitioner was ordered to pay restitution pursuant 
to the MVRA.  The MVRA provides that, “when sen-
tencing a defendant convicted of an offense described 
in subsection (c),” which includes fraud offenses, “the 
court shall order, in addition to  *  *  *  any other 
penalty authorized by law, that the defendant make 
restitution to the victim of the offense.”  18 U.S.C. 
3663A(a)(1); see also 18 U.S.C. 3663A(c)(1)(A)(ii).  The 
MVRA requires that restitution be ordered “in the full 
amount of each victim’s losses.”  18 U.S.C. 
3664(f )(1)(A); see 18 U.S.C. 3663A(d) (“An order of 
restitution under this section shall be issued and en-
forced in accordance with section 3664.”); see also 18 
U.S.C. 3663A(b)(1) (restitution order shall require 
return of property or payment of an amount equal to 
the value of lost or destroyed property).   

By requiring restitution of a specific sum—“the full 
amount of each victim’s losses”—rather than prescrib-
ing a maximum amount that may be ordered, the 
MVRA establishes an indeterminate framework.  18 
U.S.C. 3664(f)(1)(A); see, e.g., United States v. Day, 
700 F.3d 713, 732 (4th Cir. 2012) (“Critically,  *  *  *  
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there is no prescribed statutory maximum in the 
restitution context; the amount of restitution that a 
court may order is instead indeterminate and varies 
based on the amount of damage and injury caused by 
the offense.”), cert. denied, 133 S. Ct. 2038 (2013); 
United States v. Reif    ler, 446 F.3d 65, 118 (2d Cir. 
2006) (the MVRA “is an indeterminate system”) (cit-
ing cases).  Thus, when a sentencing court determines 
the amount of the victim’s loss, it “is merely giving 
definite shape to the restitution penalty [that is] born 
out of the conviction,” not “imposing a punishment 
beyond that authorized by jury-found or admitted 
facts.”  United States v. Leahy, 438 F.3d 328, 337 (3d 
Cir.) (en banc), cert. denied, 549 U.S. 1071 (2006).   

Moreover, while restitution is imposed as part of a 
defendant’s criminal conviction, Pasquantino v. Unit-
ed States, 544 U.S. 349, 365 (2005), “[r]estitution is, at 
its essence, a restorative remedy that compensates 
victims for economic losses suffered as a result of a 
defendant’s criminal conduct.”  Leahy, 438 F.3d at 
338.  “The purpose of restitution under the MVRA  
*  *  *  is  *  *  *  to make the victim[] whole again 
by restoring to him or her the value of the losses suf-
fered as a result of the defendant’s crime.”  United 
States v. Hunter, 618 F.3d 1062, 1064 (9th Cir. 2010) 
(citation and internal quotation marks omitted; brack-
ets in original).  In that additional sense, restitution 
“does not transform a defendant’s punishment into 
something more severe than that authorized by plead-
ing to, or being convicted of, the crime charged.”  
Leahy, 438 F.3d at 338.   

Every other court of appeals to have considered 
the question has held that the rule of Apprendi does 
not apply to restitution, whether ordered under the 
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MVRA or the other primary federal restitution stat-
ute, the Victim and Witness Protection Act of 1982, 18 
U.S.C. 3663.  See, e.g., Day, 700 F.3d at 732 (4th Cir.); 
United States v. Brock-Davis, 504 F.3d 991, 994 n.1 
(9th Cir. 2007); United States v. Milkiewicz, 470 F.3d 
390, 403-404 (1st Cir. 2006); Reif  ler, 446 F.3d at 114-
120 (2d Cir.); United States v. Williams, 445 F.3d 
1302, 1310-1311 (11th Cir. 2006), abrogated on other 
grounds by United States v. Lewis, 492 F.3d 1219, 
1221-1222 (11th Cir. 2007) (en banc); Leahy, 438 F.3d 
at 337-338 (3d Cir.); United States v. Visinaiz, 428 
F.3d 1300, 1316 (10th Cir. 2005), cert. denied, 546 U.S. 
1123 (2006); United States v. Sosebee, 419 F.3d 451, 
461-462 (6th Cir. 2005); United States v. Carruth, 418 
F.3d 900, 902-904 (8th Cir. 2005); United States v. 
George, 403 F.3d 470, 473 (7th Cir.), cert. denied, 546 
U.S. 1008 (2005).   

Those courts have relied primarily on the absence 
of a statutory maximum for restitution in concluding 
that, when the court fixes the amount of restitution 
based on the victim’s losses, it is not increasing the 
punishment beyond that authorized by the conviction.  
See, e.g., Leahy, 438 F.3d at 337 n.11 (“the jury’s ver-
dict automatically triggers restitution in the ‘full 
amount of each victim’s losses’ ”) (quoting 18 U.S.C. 
3664(f  )(1)(A)).  Some courts, like the Seventh Circuit 
below, have additionally reasoned that “restitution is 
not a penalty for a crime for Apprendi purposes,” or 
that, even if restitution is criminal, its compensatory 
purpose distinguishes it from purely punitive 
measures.  United States v. LaGrou Distrib. Sys., 
Inc., 466 F.3d 585, 593 (7th Cir. 2006); see Visinaiz, 
428 F.3d at 1316; Carruth, 418 F.3d at 904; see also 
Leahy, 438 F.3d at 338. 
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c. This Court’s holding in Southern Union that 
“the rule of Apprendi applies to the imposition of 
criminal fines,” 132 S. Ct. at 2357, does not undermine 
the uniform line of precedent holding that restitution 
is not subject to Apprendi.  In Southern Union, the 
defendant company was charged with violating the 
Resource Conservation and Recovery Act of 1976 
(RCRA), 42 U.S.C. 6928(d), by storing liquid mercury 
without a permit for 762 days.  132 S. Ct. at 2349.  
Violations of RCRA were punishable by a fine of up to 
$50,000 for each day of violation.  42 U.S.C. 6928(d)(7)  
Although the jury was not asked to determine the 
length of the violation, the district court concluded 
from the verdict and the evidence that the jury had 
found a 762-day violation, making the statutory maxi-
mum fine $38.1 million.  Southern Union, 132 S. Ct. at 
2349.  The court imposed a $6 million fine, well above 
the $50,000 that the defendant argued was the maxi-
mum necessarily supported by the jury’s verdict.  
Ibid. 

In holding that the fine violated the Sixth Amend-
ment, the Court explained that criminal fines, like 
imprisonment or death, “are penalties inflicted by the 
sovereign for the commission of offenses.”  Southern 
Union, 132 S. Ct. at 2350.  Observing that, “[i]n stat-
ing Apprendi’s rule, [it] ha[d] never distinguished one 
form of punishment from another,” id. at 2351, the 
Court concluded that criminal fines equally implicate 
“Apprendi’s ‘core concern’ [of  ] reserv[ing] to the jury 
‘the determination of facts that warrant punishment 
for a specific statutory offense,’ ” id. at 2350 (quoting 
Oregon v. Ice, 555 U.S. 160, 170 (2009)).  The Court 
also examined the historical record, explaining that 
“the scope of the constitutional jury right must be 
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informed by the historical role of the jury at common 
law.”  Id. at 2353 (quoting Ice, 555 U.S. at 170).  Find-
ing that “English juries were required to find facts 
that determined the authorized pecuniary punish-
ment,” and that “the predominant practice” in early 
America was for facts that determined the amount of a 
fine “to be alleged in the indictment and proved to the 
jury,” the Court concluded that the historical record 
“support[ed] applying Apprendi to criminal fines.”  Id. 
at 2353-2354. 

Contrary to petitioner’s argument (Pet. 16-23), 
Southern Union does not require applying Apprendi 
to restitution.  The Court in Southern Union consid-
ered only criminal fines, which are “undeniably” im-
posed as criminal penalties in order to punish illegal 
conduct, 132 S. Ct. at 2351, and it held only that such 
fines are subject to Apprendi.  Id. at 2357.  The Court 
had no occasion to, and did not, address restitution, 
which has compensatory and remedial purposes that 
fines do not, and which is imposed pursuant to an 
indeterminate scheme that lacks a statutory maxi-
mum.  Indeed, Southern Union supports distinguish-
ing restitution under the MVRA from the type of 
sentences subject to Apprendi because, in acknowl-
edging that many fines during the founding era were 
not subject to concrete caps, the Court reaffirmed that 
there cannot “be an Apprendi violation where no max-
imum is prescribed.”  Id. at 2353.  Unlike the statute 
in Southern Union, which prescribed a $50,000 maxi-
mum fine for each day of violation, the MVRA sets  
no maximum amount of restitution, but rather re-
quires that restitution be ordered in the total amount 
of the victims’ losses.  18 U.S.C. 3663A(b)(1) and (d), 
3664(f  )(1)(A); see Day, 700 F.3d at 732 (stating that, 
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“in Southern Union itself, the Apprendi issue was 
triggered by the fact that the district court imposed a 
fine in excess of the statutory maximum that applied 
in that case,” and distinguishing restitution on the 
ground that it is not subject to a “prescribed statutory 
maximum”) (emphasis omitted).   

Since Southern Union, two other courts of appeals 
have addressed in published opinions whether the 
Apprendi rule should be applied to restitution.  Both 
concluded, without dissent, that Apprendi does not 
apply.  See Day, 700 F.3d at 732 (4th Cir.) (the “logic 
of Southern Union actually reinforces the correctness 
of the uniform rule adopted in the federal courts” that 
Apprendi does not apply because restitution lacks a 
statutory maximum); United States v. Read, 710 F.3d 
219 (5th Cir. 2012), cert. denied, 133 S. Ct. 2796 
(2013); see also United States v. Rebollo, 506 Fed. 
Appx. 544, 545 (9th Cir.) (unpublished) (declining to 
overrule prior precedent in light of Southern Union), 
cert. denied, 134 S. Ct. 136 (2013).   

d. Similarly, this Court’s holding in Alleyne that 
Apprendi also applies to facts that increase a manda-
tory minimum because such facts “alter the pre-
scribed range of sentences to which a defendant is 
exposed and do so in a manner that aggravates the 
punishment,” 133 S. Ct. at 2158, does not undermine 
the uniform line of precedent holding that restitution 
is not subject to Apprendi.  Restitution under the 
MVRA does not set a mandatory minimum amount or 
even a “prescribed range” of amounts that a defend-
ant may be ordered to pay.  Rather, the amount is 
based on the loss caused to the victim by the defend-
ant.  Alleyne is thus inapplicable to restitution.  Since 
Alleyne, every court of appeals to consider whether 
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the decision in Alleyne requires that the Apprendi 
rule extend to restitution has concluded that it does 
not.  See, e.g., United States v. Roemmele, No. 13-
14255, 2014 WL 6952961, at *2 (11th Cir. Dec. 10, 
2014) (rejecting Alleyne challenge to restitution); 
United States v. Johnson, 583 Fed. Appx. 503, 510-511 
& n.4 (6th Cir. 2014); United States v. Agbebiyi, 575 
Fed. Appx. 624, 632-633 (6th Cir. 2014); United States 
v. Basile, 570 Fed. Appx. 252, 258 (3d Cir. 2014); Pet. 
App. 4a-6a.  This Court’s review is therefore not war-
ranted.* 

2. Although no conflict exists among the courts of 
appeals concerning the question presented—whether 
Apprendi applies to restitution, see Pet. i—petitioner 
argues (Pet. 8-10, 26 n.14) that the decision below 
implicates a circuit split concerning a subsidiary issue:  
whether restitution should be characterized as a civil 
remedy or a criminal penalty.  Like the Seventh Cir-
cuit, the Eighth and Tenth Circuits view restitution as 
a civil remedy.  See Carruth, 418 F.3d at 904 (8th 
Cir.); Visinaiz, 428 F.3d at 1316 (10th Cir.).  Other 
circuits treat restitution as criminal punishment, albe-
it one with a remedial purpose.  See, e.g., United 
States v. Ziskind, 471 F.3d 266, 270 (1st Cir. 2006), 
cert. denied, 549 U.S. 1316 (2007); Leahy, 438 F.3d at 

                                                       
*  Petitioner’s reliance (Pet. 16-17) on this Court’s decision in 

Blakely, supra, is similarly misplaced.  The Court in Blakely held 
that a state sentencing scheme that authorized a trial court to 
increase a defendant’s sentence of incarceration beyond the statu-
tory maximum on the basis of facts found by the judge violated 
Apprendi.  542 U.S. at 303.  Because Blakely, like Apprendi, 
involved only a maximum sentence of incarceration, it does not 
conflict with the court of appeals’ holding as to restitution. 
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335 (3d Cir.); United States v. Adams, 363 F.3d 363, 
365 (5th Cir. 2004); Sosebee, 419 F.3d at 461 (6th Cir.).  

This Court’s review of that issue is not warranted.  
The courts of appeals agree that Apprendi does not 
apply to restitution, regardless of whether, as a tech-
nical matter, they view restitution as a purely civil 
remedy or as a criminal penalty with compensatory 
aspects.  In those circuits that treat restitution as civil 
in nature, including the Seventh Circuit, the civil/
criminal question is not outcome-determinative:  those 
courts have held that Apprendi does not apply to 
restitution for the additional reason that the MVRA 
does not prescribe a maximum amount of restitution, 
but rather requires restitution in a specific amount, 
i.e., the full amount of the victim’s loss.  See United 
States v. Bonner, 522 F.3d 804, 807 (7th Cir.) (“[E]ven 
if we were to  *  *  *  recharacterize restitution as a 
criminal punishment, Apprendi and its progeny would 
not require us to invalidate the defendants’ sen-
tences.”), cert. denied, 555 U.S. 883 (2008); United 
States v. Behrman, 235 F.3d 1049, 1054 (7th Cir. 
2000); see also Carruth, 418 F.3d at 904 (8th Cir.); 
United States v. Wooten, 377 F.3d 1134, 1144-1145 
(10th Cir.), cert. denied, 543 U.S. 993 (2004).  Con-
versely, those courts that view restitution as a crimi-
nal penalty have correctly recognized that restitution 
has compensatory purposes that should be taken into 
account in the Apprendi analysis.  See, e.g., Leahy, 
438 F.3d at 338.  The circuit conflict that petitioner 
identifies thus pertains only to a technical question of 
characterization that has not materially affected the 
courts’ analysis of the ultimate Apprendi issue.   

Petitioner contends (Pet. 26 n.14), that review of 
whether restitution is criminal or civil in nature is 
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necessary because “[t]he nature of restitution informs 
not only the Sixth Amendment right at issue here, but 
a number of other fundamental questions, including 
application of the Ex Post Facto Clause, the Seventh 
Amendment right to a jury, the Double Jeopardy 
Clause, the rule of lenity, prejudgment interest, and 
the doctrine of abatement.”  But no reason exists to 
address the proper characterization of restitution in 
other constitutional contexts in a case that does not 
implicate those consequences. 

CONCLUSION 

The petition for a writ of certiorari should be denied. 

Respectfully submitted.  

 

 
 DONALD B. VERRILLI, JR. 

Solicitor General 
LESLIE R. CALDWELL 

Assistant Attorney General 
THOMAS E. BOOTH 

Attorney 
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